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The Honourable Mr Justice Julian Knowles:  

Introduction 

1. This is an appeal by G4S Care and Justice Services Limited (G4S) against the decision 

of His Honour Judge Worster on 23 March 2018 in which he dismissed its application 

for summary judgment and/or to strike out Dawn Luke’s claim for damages under 

Article 2 of the European Convention on Human Rights (the Convention/the ECHR) in 

respect of the death of her son, Dean Boland.  At the time of his death Mr Boland was 

a serving prisoner in HMP Birmingham (the Prison), which at the time was run by G4S.   

Ms Luke sues G4S as the Administrator of her late son’s estate.  For clarity I will refer 

to G4S as the Defendant and Ms Luke as the Claimant.    

2. I think it will aid understanding of the issues on this appeal if I sketch out now the basis 

of Ms Luke’s claim under Article 2.  

3. Article 2(1) of the Convention provides: 

“Right to life  

1. Everyone’s right to life shall be protected by law. No one shall 

be deprived of his life intentionally save in the execution of a 

sentence of a court following his conviction of a crime for which 

this penalty is provided by law.” 

4. In Rabone v Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust [2012] 2 AC 72, [93]-[94] Baroness 

Hale explained that the first sentence of Article 2(1) imposes three distinct obligations 

upon the state. The first, which does not arise in this case, is a negative obligation, not 

to take life except in the limited cases provided for in Article 2(2) (eg, in defence of any 

person from unlawful violence). The second, which also does not arise here, is a 

positive obligation to conduct a proper investigation into any death for which the state 

might bear some degree of responsibility.  The third, with which this case is concerned, 

is a positive obligation to protect life.  As a general rule, that positive obligation is 

fulfilled by having in place laws and a legal system which deter threats to life from any 

quarter and punishes the perpetrators or compensates the victims if deterrence fails.   

5. However, in certain circumstances, the state’s positive obligation to protect life goes 

further than that. It entails an obligation to take positive steps to prevent a ‘real and 

immediate risk’ to the life of a person in a recognised category of particularly vulnerable 

people from materialising. The origins of the ‘real and immediate’ test lie in the 

decision of the European Court of Human Rights in Osman v United Kingdom (2000) 

29 EHRR 245, [116].  Later in this judgment I will say more about what ‘vulnerable’ 

means in this context.   The positive steps required by the state to fulfil this duty are 

those measures within the scope of its powers which, judged reasonably, might be 

expected to avoid that risk.   This duty is often referred to in the cases as the Article 2 

‘operational duty’, or as the Osman duty.  

6. There is a succinct encapsulation of the scope of the Osman duty in R (Kent County 

Council) v HM Coroner for the County of Kent [2012] EWHC 2768 (Admin) (Foskett 

J and the Chief Coroner), [41]: 
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“The operational duty is expressed in this way: where there is an 

allegation that the authorities have violated their positive general 

duty to protect the right to life, it must be established that the 

authorities knew or ought to have known at the time of the 

existence of a real and immediate risk to the life of an identified 

individual and that they failed to take measures within the scope of 

their powers which, judged reasonably, might have been expected 

to avoid that risk: Osman v United Kingdom (2000) 29 EHRR 

245; Mitchell v Glasgow City Council above; Watts v United 

Kingdom (2010) 51 EHRR 66 at paras. 82-83; Rabone v Pennine 

Care NHS Foundation Trust [2012] UKSC 2.” 

7. It is not in dispute for these purposes G4S is a public authority which, in appropriate 

circumstances, owes those in its custody this positive operational duty.  

8. Mr Boland had a history of drug abuse going back to when he was a teenager. He died 

after taking a mixture of prescribed and illicit drugs. Ms Luke seeks damages for alleged 

breaches by G4S of its Article 2 operational duty in relation to Mr Boland. In summary, 

Ms Luke’s case is that G4S took insufficient positive steps to protect her son from the 

risks posed by the use of illicit drugs within the Prison.  

The factual background and the judgment below 

9. The Prison is a Category B/C men's prison accommodating remand and sentenced 

prisoners. It was operated by G4S from 2011 until 2018, when it was returned to HM 

Prison and Probation Service for improvement.  G4S was therefore responsible for the 

Prison at the relevant time and thus, as I have said, was a public authority for the 

purposes of Article 2.  

10. Mr Boland was born in 1985 and was aged 30 when he died.   He had a long history of 

drug use. The evidence before the judge showed that he had used heroin and crack 

cocaine since he was 13.  He had spent a considerable period of his life in custody for 

a variety of offences. On 20 December Mr Boland’s licence was revoked after he was 

arrested for burglary. He tested positive for Class A drugs and was sent to HMP 

Birmingham to serve a fixed recall period of 28 days.  He was prescribed methadone, 

which was changed to  Subutex shortly before his release. On 15 January 2015 he was 

released on licence with a prescription for Subutex. 

11. While he was on licence Mr Boland tested positive for cocaine and opiates and did not 

attend a probation supervision appointment.  On 28 January he was arrested for 

shoplifting and on 29 January 2015 he was sentenced to eight weeks imprisonment and 

sent once again to HMP Birmingham.  His license was revoked, meaning that his latest 

date of release was 16 January 2016, unless the Parole Board directed his earlier release.  

12. He told the prison about his drug use at his initial screening interview and sought 

treatment for opiate addiction.    He had a number of interviews and was given various 

prescriptions for medication.  He was also given advice about the risks of taking 

additional, non-prescribed medication that could slow his breathing and functioning of 

his central nervous system to dangerous levels.  He was told he would have regular 

urine tests to check the effectiveness of his treatment.   
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13. Mr Boland was found on the floor of his cell by his cell-mate in the early hours of 17 

April 2015 and was declared dead shortly afterwards.   According to the post-mortem 

report, he died of ‘mixed drug toxicity’.  Eight drugs were found in his system.  Two of 

these had been prescribed to him while six were either illicit or had not been prescribed 

for him.    Of these six drugs, one was Buscopan (a prescription drug, although not one 

prescribed to Mr Boland) and another a so-called ‘legal high’ called ‘Black Mamba’ or 

‘Mamba’.  More drugs were found in his cell following his death.   

14. An inquest into Mr Boland’s death was held by a Coroner sitting with a jury.  The jury’s 

conclusion as to the death was as follows: 

“Dean Ronald Edmund Boland was discovered on the floor in Cell 

12 3rd Landing B Wing in HMP Birmingham on 17th April 2015 at 

approximately 3.30am by his cell mate.  He was pronounced dead 

at 4.12am.  He died of mixed drug toxicity.  Leading up to this he 

had self-administered various medications.  A combination of 

prescribed and illicitly obtained medication were found to be 

present in the samples taken from him and subsequently found in 

his cell.   

Dean gained access to these non-prescribed substances […] legal 

highs by exploiting inadequacies within the prison. 

Searches that are carried out are inadequate.  

General awareness of drug use and the associated is lacking (sic).    

Communication between departments concerned with maintaining 

the well being of drug dependent inmates is poorly implemented.  

Basic checks concerning the hoarding of medication are not been 

carried out (sic). 

Medical regimes are not adequately monitored.  

Perimeters are poorly protected. 

This has resulted in a facilitation of a culture of irresponsible drug 

use within the prison’s drug detoxification facility.”  

15. The Particulars of Claim allege that G4S failed in its positive obligation to protect Mr 

Boland’s right to life under Article 2 by (inter alia) failing to take various steps at the 

Prison to restrict or stop the use by prisoners of illicit drugs.  The Claimant’s case as to 

why there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life which the Defendant was 

or should have been aware of is set out in [18] of the Particulars of Claim, which the 

judge set out at [16] of his judgment: 

“By way of non-exhaustive example, the Claimant will rely upon 

the following facts and matters in support of the contention that the 

Defendant knew or ought to have known of a real and immediate 

risk (being a substantial or significant risk) to Mr Boland’s life: 
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(a) Mr Boland was a vulnerable individual by the mere fact of 

being a detainee in the Prison; 

(b) At the time of his entry into the Prison, Mr Boland was 

known to be a drug addict, the Defendant’s employees 

and/or agents having decided to treat him as such following 

his initial screening; 

(c) The Claimant understands that the Defendant had various 

policies in place which seek to ensure that individuals who 

are addicted to drugs or other substances are screened and 

provided with appropriate treatment whilst at Prison; 

(d) The Defendant is fully aware of the risk to life that is posed 

to detainees through the abuse of both prescribed and illicit 

drugs, these risks being recognised in the policy document 

entitled ‘Drug and Alcohol Strategy’ that has been disclosed 

by the Defendant; and 

(e) The Claimant understands that the Defendant provided 

training to prison officers in relation to substance misuse and 

the dangers faced by detainees in respect of such misuse.” 

16. G4S denies the claim. Its Defence pleads that in the circumstances of this case it was 

not under a positive obligation under Article 2 to protect Mr Boland’s life from his own 

deliberate criminal conduct.  It also denies that the Defendant knew or ought to have 

known that there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life whether by reason 

of his consuming drugs or otherwise.  It says that the Particulars of Claim do not 

establish that at the material time there was a real and immediate risk to his life.    

17. The Defendant applied to strike out the Claim under CPR r 3.4(2)(a) as disclosing no 

reasonable grounds for bringing it or, alternatively, for summary judgment on the 

grounds that it has no reasonable prospects of success and that there was no other 

compelling reason why it would be disposed of at trial, pursuant to CPR r 24.2(a)(i) and 

(b).  Stripped to its essentials, the Defendant’s case was that the Particulars of Claim 

were not capable of giving rise to a realistic case that it knew or should have known 

there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life, as opposed to some generic 

risk of harm arising from the fact that illegal and illicit drugs are available in prisons 

and are used by prisoners.   

18. The judge dismissed both applications in a detailed judgment which can be summarised 

as follows. 

19. He first directed himself on the relevant test to be applied on a strike-out/summary 

judgment application: see Atrill v Dresdner Kleinwort and another [2011] EWCA Civ 

229, [22]-[23].   These principles are not controversial.  They are as follows: 

a. The Court must consider whether the Claimant has a 'realistic' as opposed to a 

'fanciful' prospect of success: Swain v Hillman [2001] 1 All ER 91, 92. 
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b. A realistic claim is one that is more than merely arguable: ED&F Man Liquid 

Products v Patel [2003] EWCA Civ 472, [8]. 

c. In reaching its conclusion the court must not conduct a mini-trial: Swain, supra,  

d. This does not mean that a court must take at face value everything that a claimant 

says in statements before the court. In some cases it may be clear that there is no 

real substance in factual assertions made, particularly if contradicted by 

contemporaneous documents: ED&F Man Liquid Products v Patel [2002] EWCA 

Civ 1550, [10]. 

e. However, in reaching its conclusion the court must take into account not only the 

evidence actually placed before it on the application for summary judgment, but the 

evidence that can reasonably be expected to be available at trial: Royal Brompton 

Hospital NHS Trust v Hammond (No 5) [2001] EWCA Civ 550. 

f. Although a case may turn out at trial not to be really complicated, it does not follow 

that it should be decided without the fuller investigation into the facts at trial than 

is possible or permissible on a summary judgment hearing. Thus the court should 

hesitate about making a final decision without a trial, even when there is no obvious 

conflict of fact at the time of the application, where reasonable grounds exist for 

believing that a fuller investigation into the facts of the case would add to or alter 

the evidence available to a trial judge and so affect the outcome of the 

case: Doncaster Pharmaceuticals Group Ltd v Bolton Pharmaceutical 100 Ltd 

[2007] FSR 3 " 

20. To that summary the judge added a reference to the speech of Lord Hope in Three 

Rivers DC v Bank of England No 3 [2003] 2 AC 1, [107] where he said: 

“Conversely, I consider that if one part of the claim is to go to trial 

it would be unreasonable to divide the history up and strike out 

other parts of it. A great deal of time and money has now been 

expended in the examination of the preliminary issues, and I think 

that this exercise must now be brought to an end. I would reject the 

Bank's application for summary judgment.” 

21. The judge then turned to the nature of the positive obligation imposed by Article 2.  He 

directed himself in accordance with the decision of the European Court of Human 

Rights in Osman, supra, [116], where the Court said that if there is an allegation that 

the authorities have failed in their positive obligation to protect the right to life then to 

prove that failure: 

“… it must be established to its satisfaction that the authorities 

knew or ought to have known at the time of the existence of a real 

and immediate risk to the life of an identified individual or 

individuals from the criminal acts of a third party and that they 

failed to take measures within the scope of their powers which, 

judged reasonably, might have been expected to have avoided that 

risk”. 

 



Judgment Approved by the court for handing down. Double-click to enter the short title  

 

 

22. He also referred to Lord Bingham’s speech in Van Colle v Chief Constable of 

Hertfordshire Police [2009] 1 AC 225, [32], [35], where his Lordship had emphasised 

the ‘constant standard’ of this test and pointed out that the Court had emphasised the 

question was what the authorities knew at the time.  

 

23. As I shall explain later, the Osman duty does not only arise where there is a criminal 

threat from a third party.  It also extends to various categories of person whom I have 

described as ‘vulnerable’ to whose lives there is a real and immediate risk.  

 

24. The judge then turned to the facts at [8] onwards some of which I have set out, including 

that Mr Boland had a history of drug addiction which he disclosed on reception to 

prison.   

 

25. The judge noted G4S’s reliance on the drug compact which Mr Boland signed, in which 

he promised that he would not conceal or stockpile prescribed medication, and would 

not keep non-prescribed drugs.   The Defendant also relied on the fact that of six drugs 

tests whilst he was in prison, Mr Boland failed only one when he tested positive for 

opiates on 17 February 2015.    He also told his drug worker at the end of March 2015 

that he was ‘drug free’.    

 

26. The judge then referred to evidence from Mr Boland’s cell mate, Paul Delaney, who 

said that on most nights Mr Boland smoked Black Mamba crushed up with Buscopan, 

and that this drug was readily available and sold by some prisoners who were prescribed 

it. 

 

27. The judge noted part of the inquest jury’s narrative verdict (accepting that it was not 

evidence as such) that Mr Boland had gained access to drugs by ‘exploiting 

inadequacies in the system’ and that there was a ‘culture of irresponsible drug use’ on 

the wing where Mr Boland died.  

 

28. The judge noted the Defendant’s core submission that the Claimant did not have a 

realistic prospect of showing that at the time of Mr Boland’s death the Defendant knew 

or ought to have known that there was a real and immediate risk to his life so as to 

engage Article 2. 

 

29. At [16] the judge set out the factors relied upon by the Claimant in her Particulars of 

Claim at [18] to demonstrate such a risk to her son.  These included that Mr Boland was 

vulnerable by virtue of being a detainee; that he was known to be a drug addict and was 

treated as such by the Prison following his initial screening; the Defendant had policies 

in place to try and ensure that prisoners who are drug addicts are screened and provided 

with appropriate treatment; the Defendant was aware of the risk to life posed to 

detainees by the use of illicit drugs; and the Defendant provided training to prison 

officers in relation to substance misuse.    

 

30. The judge then set out the points made by the Defendant in response as showing the 

Claimant’s case did not stand a realistic prospect of success, in other words, there was 

no realistic prospect of her showing that there the Defendant knew or ought to have 

known there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life, including: there was 

nothing specific about Mr Boland’s situation to establish a risk over and above the risk 

said to arise from the fact that he was a known drug user; there was no suggestion he 
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was not complying with his treatment program; not all drug users in prison have a real 

and immediate risk of death, this being demonstrated by the fact that the number of 

prison drug deaths is small; there are a range of drugs available in prison, some more 

harmful than others.  The Defendant said that it is not possible to say that all drug users 

face a real and immediate risk to life and that Mr Boland appeared to be engaging with 

his treatment program.  

 

31. Next, the judge dealt with the Defendant’s argument that to impose a duty in the present 

context would impose an impossible burden on the state.   Further, even if the Defendant 

knew generally about the existence of drugs on B Wing, and that Mr Boland was taking 

them, that did not establish the necessary real and immediate risk to his life.  

 

32. The judge then referred to evidence from prison witnesses who had seen prisoners take 

(in particular) Black Mamba and Buscopan. They described the severe effects they 

witnessed, including that Black Mamba can cause heart palpitations and can stop 

breathing. 

 

33. At [22] onwards the judge reviewed some of the relevant authorities.  At [26]  he 

considered Kent County Council, supra, which involved the death of a 14-year-old boy 

from a drugs overdose who had been known to the Council be on a downward spiral 

and taking drugs.  The Court said the evidence showed the boy was ‘understandably 

vulnerable and at risk’ but that ‘that risk, viewed objectively, was not a risk to life, 

certainly not a real and immediate risk to life.  It was a risk of harm  …’  I will return 

to this case later in this judgment.  

 

34. At [30] the judge recorded the Defendant’s submission that there was little or no 

evidence of Mr Boland taking drugs, let alone a risk of death, or of knowledge by the 

Defendant that he was taking drugs.   The Defendant said that if there had been such 

evidence, it would have been of a risk of harm and not a real and immediate risk of 

death, which is a high or stringent test as noted in Van Colle, supra, at [69] and [115].  

 

35. At [32] the judge summarised the Claimant’s position that (a) taking illicit drugs in a 

mixture creates a risk of death; (b) there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland 

and others in his position; (c) the Defendant knew or ought to have known of that risk. 

 

36. The judge then set out his conclusions at [43] – [48].   He said the Defendant’s best 

point was that Mr Boland had passed five out of six drug tests.  However, he said the 

Defendant should have known about the risks of Buscopan in particular, at least from 

March 2015 when a staff member saw its effects, as the judge had earlier said.  There 

was evidence that Mr Boland smoked it.  The judge said at [45] there was no direct 

evidence that the Defendant was taking Black Mamba and Buscopan and other drugs.   

However, the judge said that there was enough evidence that the Defendant knew or 

should have known that the use of Buscopan with other drugs might cause death.  

 

37. At [46] the judge said he took into account that further evidence might become available 

at trial, and he considered the inquest gave an indication as to what disclosure and cross-

examination might bring out. 

 

38. At [47] the judge said that there had been a ‘real’ risk of death.  He said the more 

difficult question was whether there had been an ‘immediate’ risk.   He said the lack of 



Judgment Approved by the court for handing down. Double-click to enter the short title  

 

 

anything which marked Mr Boland out as vulnerable was an obvious difficulty for the 

Claimant’s case. But set against that, the judge said, was the culture on B Wing and the 

easy availability of drugs, the propensity of the inmates to obtain, hoard and sell drugs, 

‘the potentially fine line between the harm caused by foreseeable drug use and the loss 

of life resulting from an unintentional overdose, and the failings of the Defendant 

identified in the jury’s verdict’.  Overall, the judge said that although the claim faced 

problems, the matters of concern uncovered by the inquest meant that it was not fanciful 

to say it would succeed.  

 

39. The Defendant’s applications were therefore dismissed.  The judge granted permission 

to appeal.   The ground of appeal in the Appellant’s Notice is: 

 

“The Court erred in concluding that the facts relied upon in the 

Particulars of Claim were capable of giving rise to a ‘real and 

immediate risk to life’ such as to engage the operational duty under 

Article 2.”  

 

The parties’ submissions on the appeal 

 

The Defendant’s submissions 

 

40. On behalf of the Defendant, Mr Payne QC submitted that the judge erred in failing to 

(a) restrict himself to the Claimant’s pleaded case; (b) apply an insufficiently high or 

stringent threshold in determining whether a ‘real and immediate risk to life existed’; 

(c) identify any sufficient factors which were capable of establishing that the Defendant 

should have had knowledge of a real and immediate risk to the life of Mr Boland (as 

opposed to a generalised unparticularised risk to life) and, a real risk to life as opposed 

to a real risk of harm; (d) provide adequate reasons for his conclusions.          

 

41. On the ‘pleaded case’ issue, Mr Payne said that the judge’s finding at [47] that there 

was ‘the lack of anything which marked Mr Boland out as particularly vulnerable, or 

any warning signs about the nature of his drug taking in prison’ should have resulted in 

the judge holding that the claim had no reasonable prospects of success, given the judge 

did not find that the Defendant’s policies had created a real and immediate risk to Mr 

Boland’s life.   Mr Payne said that the judge’s finding on real risk, which related to 

what he said was the widespread availability of Buscopan in the Prison was not 

warranted because that formed no part of the Claimant’s pleaded case.  He also said 

that the judge’s finding on the risk being ‘immediate’ was flawed because his basis for 

so holding, namely the easily availability of drugs and the other matters he mentioned, 

was also not part of the Claimant’s pleaded case.  

 

42. In relation to ‘real and immediate’ risk, Mr Payne pointed out that in this context ‘real’ 

means ‘significant and substantial’: Rabone, supra, [38].  He said the judge did not 

apply the right test, and the mere possibility that a prisoner might overdose was not 

sufficient in the absence of any particular risk to Mr Boland’s life.   He said that had 

the correct test been applied by the judge, he would not have concluded that because 

drugs were widely available in the Prison there was a real, ie significant and substantial, 

risk to Mr Boland’s life.  Similarly, in relation to the ‘immediate’ limb of the test, Mr 

Payne said the judge had erred in that there was no evidence of a ‘present and 

continuing’ risk, which is the meaning of ‘immediate’ in this context: Rabone, supra, 
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[39].  Given that Mr Boland had committed to not taking drugs, and had passed five out 

of six drug tests, Mr Payne said that test could not be satisfied.      

 

43. As to the next submission, relating to the particularised risk to Mr Boland’s life from 

taking drugs, Mr Payne said there was simply no evidence of any such risk because he 

had promised not to do so and appeared not to be doing so. 

 

44. Mr Payne also criticised the quality of the judge’s reasons.   I say no more about this; 

it does not appear to me to add materially to the other points which Mr Payne made.   

This is not a free-standing ‘lack of reasons’ case.  

 

45. At [37] of his Skeleton Argument Mr Payne went on to make a broader submission to 

the effect that there can be no operational duty owed to prisoners who have no mental 

health issues to protect them from the consequences of their own criminal acts, 

including taking illicit or illegal drugs.  Although pleaded in the Defence, this does not 

appear to have been argued below.   He submitted that prisoners who are not mentally 

ill do not, and cannot as a matter of principle, fall into the recognised categories of 

persons to whom an operational duty to protect them from risks to their life under 

Article 2 is capable of being owed. Mr Payne’s essential argument is that although the 

Article 2 duty extends to those who can be described in general terms as ‘vulnerable’, 

and all prisoners are to an extent vulnerable by reason of being detained, that 

vulnerability does not cloak prisoners who chose voluntarily to  commit criminal acts, 

or voluntarily take illicit drugs, with the protection of an Article 2 operational duty, 

because those choices are not a consequence of their being detained or under the control 

of the state. In the absence of any mental health issue, it is their own free choice to 

behave in such ways and that choice should not and does not give rise to any positive 

duty on the state.  By way of support for his submission, Mr Payne gives the example 

of a prisoner who attempts to escape from prison, or a prisoner who attacks a prison 

officer.  Mr Payne says it is obvious that that there cannot be an operational duty owed 

to such prisoners to protect themselves from the consequences of their voluntary 

criminal acts.     

 

The Claimant’s submissions 

46. On behalf of the Claimant, Ms Hemingway submitted that (a) the judge correctly 

directed himself on the law and the relevant facts and reached a conclusion that was 

open to him; (b) in particular, the judge correctly recognised this was a developing area 

of law which militated against a summary determination of the claim; (c) as an appeal 

court, I should be slow to interfere with the judge’s conclusion because it was a case 

management decision; (d) the case raises issues of wider public importance (as the 

Defendant accepts in [2] of its Skeleton Argument), and this provides an additional 

reason why it should not be summarily disposed of.  She also says that some of the 

issues argued by Mr Payne went beyond the scope of the single ground of appeal in the 

Appellant’s Notice and so I should not entertain them: CPR r 52.21(5). 

47. Expanding on these outline submissions, Ms Hemingway submitted that the test I 

should apply on this appeal is contained in CPR r 52.21(3), and that I can only allow 

the appeal if the judge’s decision is (a) wrong; or (b) unjust because of a serious 

procedural or other irregularity in the proceedings below.  (I say at once that the second 

limb has no application on this appeal). 
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48. She said I should have considerable deference for the judge’s decision as it was in 

essence a case management decision, and she relied on Commissioner of Police for the 

Metropolis v Abdulle [2016] 1 WLR 898, where the defendant appealed against a 

decision refusing to strike out the claimants’ claims.   The Court of Appeal said that the 

appeal essentially amounted to a perversity challenge and emphasised the need to 

uphold robust case management decisions of first instance judges.       

49. Ms Hemingway accepted that the test is one of real and immediate risk, and that they 

bear the meanings advanced by Mr Payne, namely ‘real and substantial’ and ‘present 

and continuing’. 

50. She submitted that Mr Payne was not correct to say the judge wrongly failed to identify 

sufficient evidence of a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life individually as 

opposed to some risk to prisoners in general. She said there were a number of cases 

from the Strasbourg court where it has been held that the Article 2 protective obligation 

can be owed to members of the public at large without the need for a specific individual 

to be identifiable in advance, for example, Mastromatteo v Italy, Application Number 

37703/97, where the Grand Chamber was willing to accept the risk posed to the general 

public by criminals on day release, even though the deceased victims were not identified 

prior to their encounters with the perpetrators.   She also relied on Tagayea v Russia, 

Application Number 26562/07, where a threat of terrorist attack posed to all school 

children in multiple districts, even where the individuals had not been identified with 

precision, was sufficient to impose an operational obligation on the state to put 

protective measures in place.   She also pointed to domestic decisions to the same effect, 

including Sarjantson v Chief Constable of Humberside [2014] QB 411 and R v Marine 

A [2014] 1 WLR 3326. 

51. Ms Hemingway argued that the judge had been right to conclude that there was a drugs 

problem at the prison. She emphasised Lord Dyson’s judgment in Rabone, supra, [35]-

[38], where he had said that ‘real’ did not mean ‘likelihood or fairly high degree of 

risk’.  She said that the question of whether the necessary level of risk was established 

was very fact sensitive, and that it was impossible to fault the judge’s conclusion that 

there was a proper basis upon which a trial judge could find that the risk of Mr Boland’s 

death was real.  

52. As to the ‘immediate’ limb of the test, Ms Hemingway submitted that the judge was 

right for the reasons he gave at [47] to hold that there was an immediate risk.    

53. As to the Defendant’s knowledge, she submitted that the evidence of prison witnesses 

who had seen the effects of Buscopan and Black Mamba was sufficient to fix the 

Defendant with the requisite knowledge. 

54. Ms Hemingway also submitted that the ‘pleaded case’ point was not in the Appellant’s 

Notice and I should not allow it to be advanced.   However, in any event she said there 

was nothing in it.   

55. Overall, she submitted that the judge reached the right conclusion for the right reasons 

and that the appeal should therefore be dismissed.  

56. Ms Hemingway also seeks leave to adduce fresh evidence not before the judge below, 

pursuant to Ladd v Marshall [1954] 1 WLR 1489.  The evidence is a witness statement 
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and exhibits from the Claimant’s solicitor.  This evidence is said to show that the drugs 

situation at the Prison is as bad, or has worsened since Mr Boland’s death and that in 

March 2018 there were four prisoner deaths, including one in which Black Mamba was 

involved.   

57. Ms Hemingway says that I should receive this evidence because the three Ladd v 

Marshall, supra, criteria are satisfied in that (a) the evidence could not have been 

obtained with reasonable diligence for use in the court below; (b) it would have an 

important influence on the result of the case, although it need not be decisive; (c) the 

evidence must be credible.    

58. The Defendant accepts that the first and third of these criteria are satisfied, but disputes 

that the second criteria is satisfied.  Mr Payne says that the fresh evidence does not 

advance the Claimant’s case because it does not add anything which is capable of 

supporting the contention that that the Defendant knew or ought to have known of a 

real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life, for the reasons given above.       

 

59. I have read this evidence de bene esse and will deal with it later in my judgment.  

 

The test to be applied on this appeal 

60. CPR r 52.21(3) provides: 

“(3) The appeal court will allow an appeal where the decision of 

the lower court was - 

(a) wrong; or 

(b) unjust because of a serious procedural or other irregularity in 

the proceedings in the lower court.” 

61. As I have said, the second limb is not in play in this case. The Claimant submits that 

judge’s decision was an exercise of discretion in relation to a case management 

decision, and thus I should have considerable deference to it. I disagree.  The case of 

Abdulle, supra, which the Claimant relied on, concerned a refusal to strike out a 

statement of case for failure to comply with a rule, practice direction or court order, 

which in turn involved an exercise of discretion, as the headnote to the case makes clear.  

Here, the judge’s task was to decide on the materials before him whether the Defendant 

had shown that the Claimant’s case had no realistic prospect of success.   That was a 

question to which there was only one correct answer. The issue for me is whether the 

judge’s conclusion was wrong.   

Discussion 

 

Is the Article 2 operational duty capable of applying to a prisoner in respect of a risk to his life 

caused by his voluntary ingestion of illicit drugs obtained in prison ? 

62. Although this issue formed the second part of Mr Payne’s Skeleton Argument, I 

consider that, logically, it should be addressed first. That is because, if the operational 

duty is incapable of applying to a prisoner in respect of such a risk, then it is irrelevant 
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whether or not the risk is real and immediate.  This was the approach of the Court of 

Appeal in Rabone, supra: see at [2011] QB 109, [63], where Jackson LJ said: 

“On the law as it stands, I do not believe that health trusts have the 

article 2 operational obligation to voluntary patients in hospital, 

who are suffering from physical or mental illness, even where there 

is a real and immediate risk of death.”  

63. Although the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeal and held that the operational 

duty is owed to voluntary psychiatric patients, the underlying point in this passage is 

sound (if I may respectfully say so): if a person is not within a category of individual  

to whom the operational duty can apply then the level of risk does not matter. 

64. I referred towards the start of this judgment to the operational duty being owed to 

categories of those who can generally be regarded as ‘vulnerable’ individuals.   In 

Rabone, supra, [15]-[16], Lord Dyson set out the categories of such persons as has (at 

least then) been recognised by the Strasbourg court.  He said: 

“15. The court has held that there is a duty on the state to take 

reasonable steps to protect prisoners from being harmed by others 

including fellow prisoners (Edwards v United 

Kingdom (2002) 35 EHRR 487) and from suicide (Keenan v 

United Kingdom (2001) 33 EHRR 913). The same duty exists to 

protect others who are detained by the state, such as immigrants 

who are kept in administrative detention (Slimani v 

France (2004) 43 EHRR 1068) and psychiatric patients who are 

detained in a public hospital ( Savage v South Essex Partnership 

NHS Foundation Trust (MIND intervening) [2009] AC 681). The 

operational duty is also owed to military conscripts. Specifically, 

there is a duty to protect a conscript against the risk of suicide 

( Kilinç v Turkey (Application No 40145/98) (unreported) given 7 

June 2005) … 

16. More recently, the court has expanded the circumstances in 

which the duty is owed so as to include what may generally be 

described as dangers for which in some way the state is responsible. 

Thus in Öneryildiz v Turkey 41 EHRR 325, the applicant had lived 

with his family in a slum bordering on a municipal household 

refuse tip. A methane explosion at the tip resulted in a landslide 

which engulfed the applicant’s house killing his close relatives. The 

Grand Chamber held, at para 101, that the Turkish authorities knew 

or ought to have known that the tip constituted a real and immediate 

risk to the lives of persons living close to it. They consequently 

“had a positive obligation under article 2 of the 

Convention to take such preventive operational 

measures as were necessary and sufficient to protect 

those individuals, especially as they themselves had set 

up the site and authorised its operation, which gave rise 

to the risk in question.” 

https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html#CR12
https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html#CR12
https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html
https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html#CR20
https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html#CR20
https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html
https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html
https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html#CR27
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65. It is clear, however, that the categories of such persons to whom the operational duty 

may be capable of applying are not closed.  As Lord Dyson went on to say at [25]: 

“Strasbourg proceeds on a case by case basis. The jurisprudence of 

the operational duty is young. Its boundaries are still being explored 

by the ECtHR as new circumstances are presented to it for 

consideration. But it seems to me that the court has been tending to 

expand the categories of circumstances in which the operational 

duty will be found to exist.”                            

66. Also, more recently in Daniel v St George's Healthcare NHS Trust [2016] EWHC 23 

(QB), [20] Lang J remarked that ‘the application of the operational duty has developed 

incrementally’. 

67. The notes to CPR r 24.2.3 in the White Book 2019 make clear that an application for 

summary judgment is not appropriate to resolve a complex question of law and fact. In 

his judgment in Rabone, supra, at [22]-[24], Lord Dyson considered the indicia in the 

Strasbourg jurisprudence as to when an operational duty may be found to exist in 

relation to a particular category of person.  He demonstrated that the issue is heavily 

fact-specific, depending, among other things, on the type of risk and level of 

vulnerability of the individual in question.    

68. Thus, the categories of the ‘vulnerable’ are developing, and whether the duty exists in 

relation to a particular category of person requires a heavily fact specific analysis in 

light of the underlying principles. Both of these factors mean that in my judgment it 

would not be right to summarily determine the claim on the broad basis argued for by 

the Defendant, and I decline to do so.   I recognise the force of Mr Payne’s submissions 

as to why there ought not to be an operational duty to protect a prisoner from risks to 

his life arising from his voluntary choice to take illicit drugs or from his own criminal 

conduct. But that broad submission fails to take account of the fact that the approach of 

the Strasbourg court is always heavily fact specific, and certainly is so in this context.  

The operational duty applies to prisoners as regards certain types of risk, as the cases 

show.  There might, in a particular case, always be particularly special facts which mean 

that whatever the general position, in respect of a particular prisoner, such a duty might 

be capable of applying in relation to the risk arising from his choice to ingest drugs 

obtained in prison.      

69. I will therefore assume (without deciding) that the operational duty imposed by Article 

2 is capable of extending to a prisoner in respect of a risk to his life caused by the 

voluntary ingestion of drugs which he has illicitly obtained whilst in prison, and that in 

this case it extended to Mr Boland. The question before me is therefore whether the 

judge was wrong to hold that there was a realistic prospect of the Claimant showing 

that there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life which the Defendant knew 

of, or should have known of.  

Was the judge wrong to conclude that the facts relied upon in the Particulars of Claim were 

capable of giving rise to a ‘real and immediate risk to life’ such as to engage the operational 

duty under Article 2 ? 

70. I begin my discussion of this topic with the nature of the Osman ‘real and immediate’ 

test. 
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71. It has been consistently emphasised that this test is not easy to satisfy. In other words, 

it is a stringent test. In Van Colle, supra, at [115] Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood 

explained: 

“115. The test set by the European Court of Human Rights 

in Osman v United Kingdom (1998) 29 EHRR 245 and repeatedly 

since applied for establishing a violation of the positive obligation 

arising under article 2 to protect someone from a real and 

immediate risk to his life is clearly a stringent one which will not 

easily be satisfied. This is hardly surprising given, as 

the Osman judgment itself recognises (at para 116), “the 

difficulties involved in policing modern societies, the 

unpredictability of human conduct and the operational choices 

which must be made in terms of priorities and resources”. It is, 

indeed, some indication of the stringency of the test that even on 

the comparatively extreme facts of Osman itself—rehearsed by 

Lord Bingham at para 56—the Strasbourg court found it not to be 

satisfied.” 

72. Statements at the highest level to the same effect are not hard to find. In Van Colle, 

supra, [30], Lord Bingham of Cornhill said the test was ‘not easily satisfied’ and that ‘I 

would for my part accept that a court should not lightly find that a public authority has 

violated one of an individual’s fundamental rights or freedoms’.  In the same case at 

[69] Lord Hope of Craighead said that the test imposes ‘a very high threshold’.   In Re 

Officer L [2007] 1 WLR 2135, [20] Lord Carswell said that, ‘It is in my opinion clear 

that the criterion is and should be one that is not readily satisfied: in other words, the 

threshold is high.’  

73. The Osman test imposes a higher threshold than establishing mere negligence. In 

Rabone, supra, [36]-[37] Lord Dyson said: 

36. … [Counsel for the Respondent] emphasises the fact that, as 

has often been said, the threshold for the operational duty (real and 

immediate risk to life) is high: see, for example, per Lord Rodger 

in the Savage case [2009] AC 681, paras 41 and 66, where he said 

that “given the high threshold, a breach of the duty will be harder 

to establish then mere negligence”. See also per Baroness Hale of 

Richmond, at para 99. 

37. I accept that it is more difficult to establish a breach of the 

operational duty than mere negligence. This is not least because, in 

order to prove negligence, it is sufficient to show that the risk of 

damage was reasonably foreseeable; it is not necessary to show that 

the risk was real and immediate. But to say that the test is a high 

one or more stringent than the test for negligence does not shed 

light on the meaning of “real and immediate” or on the question 

whether there was a real and immediate risk on the facts of any 

particular case.” 

74. It is also important to emphasise that the risk must be of a risk to life; a risk of serious 

harm is not sufficient. Kent County Council, supra, is a tragic case where a formerly 
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high-achieving teenage boy, EB, starting missing school and then went into a 

downward spiral over a number of months which involved a number of arrests for 

shoplifting, being taken home from a park by the police drunk or drugged, associating 

with street drinkers and drug takers and increasingly being absent from home overnight, 

occasionally sleeping rough.  There was also a suicide attempt. Eventually, he died aged 

14 after drinking methadone.  The Council argued that the coroner had been wrong to 

hold that there should be an Article 2 Middleton inquest: R (Middleton) v West Somerset 

Coroner [2004] 2 AC 182. It submitted that there was no operational duty to take 

protective measures because, inter alia, there was no real or immediate risk to EB’s life 

which the Council knew about or ought to have known about. The Council accepted 

that it was arguable that there was some risk of potential harm to EB, but that that risk 

did not extend to a real and immediate risk to his life.   

75. The Court agreed, saying at [44]-[47] that: 

“44. There is, in our judgment, no doubt that the instant case, 

involving a vulnerable child in the circumstances we have outlined, 

enters into the potential territory of operational duty. It follows that 

the question to be considered in the first place, applying the test set 

out in paragraph 41 above, is whether there was a real and 

immediate risk to the life of EB in the period before his death. 

45. There is no doubt that the tragic outcome of death came as a 

shocking surprise. It was undoubtedly true that in the nine months 

that the claimant knew about EB it knew that his problems had 

become more serious over that period. There was, as we have said, 

a downward spiral. There was undoubtedly a need for some action 

and it could be said that the claimant failed him in this regard …But 

even if the opportunities had been taken by the claimant, there is no 

certainty or even likelihood that EB's death would have been 

avoided as the SCR concluded. 

 

46. EB was undoubtedly vulnerable and at risk. But that risk, 

viewed objectively, was not a risk to life, certainly not a real and 

immediate risk to life. It was a risk of harm, but that should not, 

with all the wisdom of hindsight, be equated with a risk to life. Ms 

Gallagher identified that risk of harm in the Executive Summary of 

her Report, but she did not identify a risk to life. She identified the 

risks which he faced from his behaviour, but while she identified 

the risks as involving possible "significant harm", at no stage did 

she say that the risk should have been assessed as more serious. 

47. It follows, therefore, in our judgment, that there was no 

sufficient evidence of ‘a real and immediate risk to life’ …” 

76. Although in Osman, supra, the Court referred at [116] to a real and imminent risk to the 

life of ‘an identified individual or individuals’, that arose out of the particular facts of 

the case. The subsequent jurisprudence shows that the Court has not limited the scope 

of the Article 2 duty to circumstances where there is, or ought to be, known a real and 

imminent risk to the lives of identified or identifiable individuals.   It is sufficient if 
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there is such a risk to a group of individuals, which may include society at large: 

Sargantson, supra, [22]-[25]. 

77. The Osman test requires the public authority to have known, or that it should have 

known, of the existence of the risk.  As to this, guard must be taken against hindsight: 

what matters is what the public authority knew or ought to have known at the time.    In 

Van Colle, supra, Lord Bingham said at [32]: 

“32 In its formulation of the “real and immediate risk” test the 

Strasbourg court, in para 116 of its Osman judgment, laid emphasis 

on what the authorities knew or ought to have known “at the time”. 

This is a crucial part of the test, since where (as here) a tragic killing 

has occurred it is all too easy to interpret the events which preceded 

it in the light of that knowledge and not as they appeared at the 

time.” 

78. Where there is such a risk, then the standard demanded for the performance of the 

operational duty is one of reasonableness. This brings in ‘consideration of the 

circumstances of the case, the ease or difficulty of taking precautions and the resources 

available’: per Lord Carswell in Re Officer L, supra, [21].  

79. It is now time to apply these principles to the facts of this case and the judge’s analysis. 

80. Earlier in this judgment I set out the relevant part of the Particulars of Claim setting out 

why the Claimant says there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life.   I accept 

that these points are non-exhaustive.  But they must provide at least a foundation for 

the Claimant’s case. 

81. I begin with the issue of the availability of drugs in the Prison.  I accept that the judge 

was entitled to find that illicit drugs such as Black Mamba were easily available on the 

wing where Mr Boland died.  I also accept that the judge was entitled to find that 

Buscopan (a prescription drug) was being misused by some prisoners to whom it had 

not been prescribed, and that prison staff had witnessed prisoners undergoing very 

unpleasant side effects such as hallucinations.  I also accept the judge was entitled to 

find that this fixed the Defendant with the knowledge that such drugs were being abused 

by some prisoners.  However, it is self-evident that misusing any drug carries a risk to 

health. That is true even of common over-the-counter medications such as paracetamol 

and ibuprofen.  But to conclude from this generalised risk of harm that there was a 

realistic prospect of the Claimant showing that misuse of these drugs carried a real risk 

of death paid insufficient regard to the fact that the Osman test is a stringent one which 

is not easily satisfied. A real risk of harm does not equate to a real risk of death, as the 

Court reasoned in the Kent County Council case, supra.   In short, I agree with Mr Payne 

that the judge did not apply the Osman test in a way which paid proper regard to its 

stringent nature.  His conclusion  at [45] ‘… there is enough to establish that the 

Defendant knew or ought to have known that the use of Buscopan, particularly with 

other drugs, might cause death’ was not one which was open to him on the findings that 

he made or on the evidence before him if by it the judge meant that the Osman test was 

satisfied.  In fact, the evidence was uncertain as to how the drugs in question interacted 

together. I note the expert toxicology evidence from Rochelle Savage in her statement 

of 26 June 2015 that ‘The potential interaction between synthetic cannabinoids and 

hyoscine [ie, Buscopan] when abused with other drugs is unknown.’ Also, the Prison 
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Ombudsman concluded at [55] of his report, ‘We are satisfied that Mr Boland had been 

warned of the dangers of mixing drugs and the possible lethal consequences.’  

82. There is nothing in the fresh evidence relied upon by the Claimant to alter this 

conclusion.   I readily accept that this shows a bad situation in the Prison so far as the 

availability of drugs and other contraband items are concerned and that matters have 

not significantly improved since Mr Boland died.   Also, that there were four prisoner 

deaths in March 2018 is, of course, a matter of real concern.   But the evidence does not 

provide much, if any, further support in showing that there was a real and immediate 

risk to life from the use of illicit drugs.   As far as these death are concerned, perhaps 

of greater relevance to the question of whether the Defendant knew or ought to have 

known of a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland is that at the date of the Prison 

Ombudsman’s report into his death (May 2016), there had been 12 deaths since 2013, 

including Mr Boland.  Five of these were self-inflicted, while the Coroner found that 

his death had ‘no significant similarities with the circumstances of the other cases.’  

Thus, the pattern of prison deaths was not such as to put the Defendant on notice of a 

risk of death from abusing Buscopan and Black Mamba.  

83. In my judgment, there is another reason why the judge’s conclusion was  wrong.  Even 

if the judge had been correct to hold that the use of Buscopan and Black Mamba with 

other drugs gave rise to a real and immediate risk of death, I agree with Mr Payne that 

the judge needed to go on to consider on what basis it could be said that there was a 

real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life.  It was not sufficient that he was a member 

of the prison population where such drugs were rife.  Even though the judge was entitled 

to find that misuse of drugs was taking place on B Wing, it does not follow that all 

prisoners were at risk as a consequence.   Some prisoners choose to take drugs illicitly, 

others do not.  The mere fact that drugs were available did not of itself create a real and 

immediate risk to the life of a given prisoner.    Nor was the fact that Mr Boland was a 

long-term drug addict sufficient to establish the relevant risk.  To make such an 

assumption would, again in my view, apply the Osman test in an insufficiently stringent 

way.  

84. Ms Hemingway is certainly correct to point out that, as discussed in  Sargantson, supra, 

the Strasbourg Court has not limited the scope of the Article 2 duty to circumstances 

where there is or ought to be known a real and imminent risk to the lives of identified 

or identifiable individuals.   It may be sufficient if there is such a risk to a group of 

individuals, which may include society at large.   But it has done so in cases such as 

Öneryildiz supra, where people were at risk because of their status or situation alone 

(eg as residents living on the edge of a refuse tip): nothing more was required to put 

them at risk.  Mr Boland’s situation was different.  He was not at any risk from the 

drugs in the prison unless and until he decided to ingest them.  Hence, in order for the 

Osman test to be capable of being satisfied, there had to be evidence that the Defendant 

knew or ought to have known that he was abusing illicit drugs including Buscopan and 

Black Mamba, the two drugs which the judge focussed on as being principally 

responsible for the risk of death which the judge found to have existed.  As I have said, 

I consider he was wrong on this issue, but even if he had been right, then what was 

needed was some evidence that Mr Boland specifically was taking these drugs.  

85. There was no such evidence.   The judge found at [45] that there was no direct evidence 

that the Defendant was taking Black Mamba and Buscopan and other drugs.   In light 

of that finding, the judge should have gone on to find that there was no realistic prospect 

https://www.iclr.co.uk/document/2011000374/casereport_4052/html#CR27
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of the Claimant showing that there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life 

of which the Defendant was, or should have been, aware.       

86. In his judgment the judge relied on the Prison Ombudsman’s report into Mr Boland’s 

death. A number of factual matters in that report are relevant.  And, it seems to me, they 

are not capable of being undermined, whatever may come out by way of further 

disclosure or evidence.  These matters are: (a) that on reception into prison in the days 

following 29 January 2015 Mr Boland confirmed his drug/alcohol abuse but said that 

he had not self-harmed for 10 years and had no thoughts of suicide or self-harm; (b) he 

met with the Prison’s Integrated Drug Treatment Service (run by the NHS, which 

provided healthcare services to the Prison), who undertook a risk assessment which 

identified no risk of medication abuse, self-harm or suicide; gave Mr Boland advice as 

to the dangers of taking illicit drugs in addition to those which he was prescribed; and 

prescribed him a number of drugs to treat his opiate dependence, alcohol withdrawal 

and depression; (c) that on 3 February 2015 Mr Boland signed a compact by which he 

promised, among other things, not to stockpile medication nor have in his possession 

drugs which had not been prescribed to him; (d) thereafter, that he engaged with 

medical staff; (e) at the end of March 2015 he told his drug worker that he was ‘drug 

free’.  He also said, according to the Ombudsman, ‘… he felt OK, was doing well with 

his medication and no thoughts of suicide or self-harm’; (f) of the six drug tests he took 

in prison he passed five of them.  The one he failed was for opiates on 17 February 

2015, some two months before his death.  He passed the five subsequent tests that he 

took before his death; (g) between 13 and 15 April Mr Boland attended a ‘motivation 

to change’ course in which he had played an active part.  He told a nurse that he was 

likely to be released in June and wanted to be stable on his medication.     

87. In light of these incontrovertible matters, and having regard to the stringent nature of 

the Osman test, it is impossible, it seems to me, to conclude that there was a real and 

immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life of which the Defendant knew, or ought to have 

known.  I take the point that the drug tests were not capable of testing for Black Mamba. 

But looking at the picture overall, as far as the Defendant knew, whatever the general 

prevalence of drugs within the prison, Mr Boland was not at risk because it appeared 

that he had finally managed successfully not to take drugs for a sustained period and at 

the time of his death had been drug free for some time.   

Conclusion 

88. I have every sympathy for Ms Luke for the death of her son.  But, for the reasons that I 

have given, the judge’s decision was wrong.  There is not a realistic prospect of the 

Claimant showing that there was a real and immediate risk to Mr Boland’s life, of which 

the Defendant was or should have been aware, so as to trigger its operational Osman 

duty. This appeal must therefore succeed. There will be summary judgment for the 

Defendant on the Claimant’s claim.  

 


